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Foreword


Sir William Burrell is one of the most revered names in the Scottish art world. A name almost entirely entwined and rarely separated from the term ‘collection’, thanks to the gift of 6,000 artworks which he and his wife, Constance, presented to the City of Glasgow in 1944. However, the story of the Burrells is about much more than their exceptional collection, and their collection is much more than a carefully curated group of artworks. Indeed, one inspired the other, and to understand their donation requires an understanding of the people, their passions and interests, their tastes and knowledge. A product of years of research, William Burrell: A Collector’s Life provides this vital access to the couple. From William’s family history to the legacy of the gift, it delivers an all-important, in-depth and objective context for The Burrell Collection.


Our authors, Martin Bellamy and Isobel MacDonald, reveal new insights about the Burrells’ business, their motivation for collecting, and the pivotal role which Constance played not only in the creation of the collection itself but in all aspects of William’s life. We now know that he was not purely guided by art dealers but analysed and researched much of what he acquired. This book does not ignore the fact that the Burrells were products of the British Empire either, providing a frank take on who they were. William is also extremely present too, his direct words being frequently quoted, so that the reader has a real sense of the man behind the collection. In fact, William Burrell: A Collector’s Life is rich in every detail, and I challenge anyone to say that they have not learnt something new from its pages.


As a Burrell myself – Sir William was my great, great-grandfather’s second cousin – it’s a huge privilege to have my ancestor’s life so thoroughly documented. Reading the book has also revealed a connection which is both personal and professional, forged in shared experiences, shared passions and shared lives. We lived in neighbouring streets in Glasgow, visited the same museums, walked the same pavements, and he bought items from the auction house I now work for. Being a Burrell has been an asset for my professional life, and days spent at the collection which bears his name have inspired and cemented my career. It is a connection which I, like all Sir William’s relatives, am extremely proud of.


This book engages and enlightens the reader, seamlessly linking the lives of the Burrells with their extraordinary collection. As a telling of their remarkable story, it will forever be an indispensable record.


Theodora Burrell
January 2022
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Introduction


Sir William Burrell (1861–1958) was one of the world’s great art collectors. He and his wife Constance, Lady Burrell (1875–1961), created a collection numbered at over 8,000 artworks which they gave to their home city of Glasgow, Scotland, in 1944, in what has been described as ‘one of the greatest gifts ever made to any city in the world’.1


The Burrell Collection was born out of the late Victorian industrial boom that propelled Glasgow into being the workshop of the world and the second city of the British Empire. Untold wealth was earned by an industrial elite who then sought to increase their social status by collecting art. William Burrell was born into a prosperous middle-class family of shipowners. When his father died in 1885, he and his brother George took over the business while still in their twenties, transforming it into one of the leading cargo shipping companies in Britain. William had a natural flair for business and earned himself a sizeable fortune. He had developed an interest in art as a boy and he used this wealth to steadily build his collection, quickly surpassing his local contemporaries in terms of the quantity and quality of his artworks and firmly establishing for himself an international reputation as a collector of good taste and judgement. He used his wealth and art collection to his advantage, and ultimately acquired a knighthood, a castle and a place in high society. However, this was not simply a vainglorious rise to power for its own sake. Burrell had a deep sense of public duty, serving for long periods as a local councillor and as a trustee of national institutions in England and Scotland, and wished to use his art collection for public good. He lent large parts of it to galleries around the country so that as many people as possible could enjoy it, and, unlike most collectors, his collection was not sold or bequeathed for personal or family gain. When he donated the majority of his collection to Glasgow, with smaller parts going to Berwick-upon-Tweed and several other provincial galleries, his aim was to enhance the cultural standing of these places and to improve the lives of their citizens. At the time of his gift the collection was valued at well in excess of £1 million, and it came with an additional £450,000 in cash to build a dedicated museum for it. This was a major act of philanthropy, with very few strings attached other than stipulating where and how it was to be displayed. Burrell simply wanted people to gain as much pleasure from art as he had, and to improve their lives through a better understanding and appreciation of beauty.


Burrell proved to have an innate talent for art collecting. He understood what he was buying, and his refined taste led him to areas that other collectors dared not touch. His primary passion was for Gothic art and he built an outstanding collection of medieval and Renaissance tapestries, stained glass and furniture. His collection of Chinese bronzes and ceramics is one of the most comprehensive in the country, and his collection of French Impressionists contains numerous masterpieces by Manet, Cézanne and especially Degas, of whose work Burrell amassed the largest number of any collector in the country. And he was ahead of his time in collecting works by Dutch artists – the Maris brothers were particular favourites. As a result, parts of his collection rival those of major international art museums such as the Victoria & Albert Museum in London and the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York. As one newspaper observed: ‘It is said that there are about six thousand art collectors in Glasgow, but few can have bought more judiciously and more courageously than Sir William Burrell.’2 His collection may seem eclectic, but what connected the different parts was his love of artistry, history and the quality of craftsmanship. He was particularly attracted by the beauty of form and colour, and admired items with strong historical connections, particularly those associated with noble and royal families. This tied in with his Conservative political principles which, to a certain extent, guided his collecting.


These collecting passions were shared with his wife Constance, who played an active role in developing the collection. In his will Burrell was very particular in stating: ‘I have had the benefit of my wife’s help in many ways including financial help and have received from her the greatest assistance and most wholehearted support in forming the collection . . . it is my desire that it be distinctly understood that the entire gift is from my wife and myself and that her name shall always be associated with mine and shall receive full acknowledgement in all official literature relating to the collection’.3 William and Constance were faithful and loving companions throughout their married lives, and operated very much in partnership in their business, collecting and philanthropic endeavours.


Unlike many collectors, Burrell knew exactly what was in his collection. He left school at fifteen but had a typically Scottish Presbyterian approach to self-education, putting in the hard work that was required to develop his knowledge. He took the time and effort to study and understand what he had, and his library contained a significant number of books on art, history and literature that were well read and annotated. He consulted leading academics on certain aspects of his collection and used respected art dealers to guide his knowledge. He revelled in understanding the full historical significance of items in his collection and it was said that ‘to hear Sir William’s account of the history of a particular picture, tapestry, sculpture or art object was an education’.4


Burrell is often compared to other major collectors such as the American newspaper magnate William Randolph Hearst, the financier J. P. Morgan and the steel and railroad baron Henry Clay Frick. Their collections were much larger and had their own strengths, but these men had wealth that far outstripped Burrell’s and they often bought in bulk and rather indiscriminately. Burrell was a very different collector, far more judicious, balancing his comparatively limited wealth with his extensive knowledge of art and history to carefully build his collection over a lifetime. He was rather disdainful of Hearst, saying that he ‘paid whatever was asked whether genuine or spurious’. Later, Burrell was able to buy parts of that collection for a fraction of what Hearst paid after the American became financially embarrassed.5


Burrell, too, wanted to build a large and impressive collection, but not at any price. He set limits and stuck to them. If something went beyond that limit, he regretted the lost opportunity, but was quite resolute in not paying more than what he thought something was worth. He approached his art purchases as business transactions; although he let his heart select the objects, it was his head that bought them. This system worked because he rarely attended auctions himself, getting others to bid on his behalf – he built a successful network of dealers who understood and trusted his business methods, operating within the limits that he imposed. It also meant that other dealers and bidders were not alerted to Burrell’s interest in certain lots. As Kenneth Clark observed: ‘His stories of how he outwitted art dealers are too numerous to be repeated; but the funny thing is that they rather liked him. He was playing their game, and they knew where he stood.’6 Although he tried to get things as cheaply as possible he always insisted that the dealers received a fair commission, and he was meticulously punctual when it came to settling his bills. The same was true in his dealings with museums. Not wanting to see them out of pocket, he always insisted on paying for the transport and packing costs when he sent things out on loan.


Although The Burrell Collection has become internationally renowned, Sir William Burrell himself has remained something of an enigma. He shunned the limelight, wanting the collection to speak for itself, leaving few clues about his personal life and hiding behind a persona of reticence. This dearth of material has allowed certain myths and fabrications to take hold which have painted him in a rather unfavourable light, compounded by the fact that most people who wrote of their personal experiences of Burrell only knew him when he was in his eighties and nineties so that their recollections of a rather tetchy old man have dominated our view of him. Newly discovered research materials and access to resources such as digitised newspapers have allowed a much more detailed and nuanced understanding of Burrell to be revealed, especially of his earlier years.


There is no doubt that Sir William was a difficult and complex character. In many ways he was a typical west of Scotland male; he was immensely proud of his achievements but unwilling to brag about them. His actions in business and art were bold and daring, but in person he was softly spoken and shy. He was socially and politically conservative, but had an adventurous taste in modern art. And like all men who reached his position, he had a ruthless streak. He had exacting standards and expected others to meet them. This manifested itself in business when his younger brother was ousted from the family firm for not quite making the grade. In his personal life, when his daughter Marion made inappropriate romantic liaisons, he quickly intervened to call off her engagements. In dealings with museums and galleries he was extremely demanding, though always scrupulously polite. He frequently began his letters with ‘Sorry to trouble you’, or ‘I hope I am not imposing upon your kindness’. After a particularly protracted and demanding correspondence with the director of the Tate Gallery he wrote: ‘I know I am making myself a nuisance but I seem to be asking you one favour after another.’7 He knew what he wanted and he knew how to get it.


Burrell was very much a product of the British Empire. His view of the world was based on growing up in Victorian Britain where it was considered part of the natural order of things that Britain controlled an empire and used it to advantage. His business as a shipowner was founded on Britain’s dominance of maritime trade, at a time when nearly half the world’s ships were British, and much of this trade was a result of the exploitation of people and resources across the empire. His view of different peoples and cultures was seen through the eyes of a Victorian industrialist art collector. For example, he revered the bronze and ceramic art from China in his collection but exploited ordinary Chinese seamen on board his ships. As with most collectors of this time, Burrell acquired a small number of objects that are today regarded as war loot or the plunder of empire. In a few cases he knew exactly how these pieces had been acquired but, with the sensibilities of the time, this was not considered problematic, just a natural consequence of British rule. But in most cases he was completely unaware, and it is only with modern research techniques and the opening up of digital archives and collections that the true provenance of some parts of the collection has been revealed. It would be harsh to judge Burrell on this basis as in fact he was largely ethical in his approach to collecting.


The opening of The Burrell Collection museum in 1983 was the culmination of William and Constance’s ambitions. It gave each citizen of Glasgow free access to his art collection in beautiful surroundings in a way that fostered enjoyment, contemplation and understanding. It immediately captured the imagination of the public, placing Glasgow firmly on the cultural map. Although it opened much later than originally anticipated, and long after the deaths of both William and Constance, its opening occurred at just the right time to play a major role in the transformation of Glasgow from a post-industrial city with a poor reputation into an internationally renowned city of culture.


After thirty years as one of Glasgow’s leading attractions, the innovative museum building needed a significant upgrade to meet twenty-first-century standards of access and environmental sustainability. The Burrell Renaissance Project was born to secure the future of the building and to revitalise the displays to meet the demands and expectations of contemporary audiences. This major investment has ensured that the Burrells’ wish of enriching the lives of Glasgow’s citizens and visitors through ‘becoming more closely acquainted with what is beautiful’8 will continue for many generations to come.





CHAPTER 1



Early Years


The booming industrial city of Glasgow lay unusually quiet. The forges were dimmed, the looms were still and the rivet hammers silent. The factories and shipyards were closed, and the workers were enjoying their leisure. On the second day of the annual Glasgow Fair holidays of 1861 the Glasgow Herald gave a stark warning against visiting the ‘The Shows’ on Glasgow Green which were a breeding ground for thievish jackals and the light-fingered gentry. A far healthier and more economic attraction, the paper advised, was to take one of the many trains and river steamers and enjoy the pleasures of rusticating in the country.1


There was one family that would make it to neither the Fair nor the country, for on Tuesday 9 July Isabella Burrell gave birth to her third son, William. The Burrells were in many ways a typical middle-class Glasgow family. The father, William Burrell Senior was starting to make his name in the shipping world. His father, George, had moved to the city on canal business and as his fortunes grew he set up on his own account as a shipping agent, eventually bringing his son into the business. They lived in the north of the city close to the canal’s major port in the city at Port Dundas, where they had set up business. Isabella was the daughter of Adam Guthrie, a coal agent, and Elizabeth Duncan.2 Her parents were married and initially set up home in the Gorbals, but moved to Johnstone and then Renfrew, where Isabella was born in 1834. By 1851 they had moved to Grove Street, just around the corner from the Burrell family home on Garscube Road, in the north of Glasgow. Here the two families got to know each other, either through the business of shipping coal or from living in the same neighbourhood. Isabella, like her two older sisters, was employed as a dressmaker. Her brother George had emigrated to Australia in 1852 and established himself as a shipping agent in Melbourne, and her sister Mary had gone out the following year. After her mother died in February 1855, she and her father boarded the Glenroy, a superior emigrant ship, and set sail for Melbourne. Whether this was intended as a permanent move or just a visit we do not know, but her father ended up staying with George, assisting him to set up the Bendigo Pottery.3 Isabella, however, decided to return to Scotland. She departed Melbourne on the clipper ship James Baines in August 1856 and arrived back in Liverpool at the end of November.


It is said that Isabella and William Sr were engaged before her trip, which would have made for a very long engagement.4 In any case, just a few weeks after her return the two married at the United Presbyterian church in Helensburgh on New Year’s Eve. Quite why they decided on Helensburgh remains a mystery as neither family seems to have had any connection with the town. William Sr and Isabella initially set up home in a three-bedroomed flat in a smart new tenement building at 3 Scotia Street in the newly developing middle-class suburb of Garnethill in the north of Glasgow. Their first child, George, arrived in December 1857 and their second, Adam, was born in June 1859.


William Sr had recently joined his father in a new shipping business based on the Forth and Clyde Canal at Port Dundas. This was just one of the many new enterprises that were springing up across Glasgow as it grew into one of the world’s leading commercial and industrial cities. Its population had more than trebled in the previous fifty years to around 400,000 and its trade had exploded exponentially. Customs revenue of the port of Glasgow had grown from just £3,000 in 1811 to well over £900,000 in 1861. Glasgow had long been an important cathedral and university city, but it was in the eighteenth century that Glasgow’s commercial and industrial development saw a dramatic growth. Following the Act of Union in 1707 Glasgow’s merchants were quick to capitalise on the opportunities presented by the slave economy, and tobacco, cotton and sugar from America and the West Indies formed the backbone of the city’s new wealth. Textile mills and small manufacturing businesses grew from this trade and soon Glasgow became a major exporter of manufactured goods. The introduction of steam shipping in 1812 had a dramatic effect. The Clyde became known as the ‘cradle of steam navigation’ and within a few years numerous engineering works and shipyards had grown along the banks of the river. The introduction of iron ships in the 1830s provided another spur and by the 1840s there were several specialist iron shipbuilding yards such as Tod & MacGregor at Meadowside and Robert Napier in Govan. The growth of Clyde shipbuilding was phenomenal and by 1860 the industry had become firmly established. A distinct ‘Clyde form’ of ships had evolved, characterised by elegance and efficiency and shipbuilders were able to boast with some confidence that ‘the crack steamers on the Clyde are second to none in the world’.5 In 1861 there were around thirty yards on the Clyde, which completed eighty-eight iron ships totalling nearly 67,000 tons, which was a ten-fold increase from the 1841 figures. What was remarkable, apart from the quality of the ships, was the sheer diversity of the output, from luxury liners and sleek clippers to armour-plated warships, dredgers and cargo steamers. The Scotsman observed that ‘the extent to which shipbuilding on the Clyde has attained within a brief period is something unequalled in the history of any river or port in the world’.6


Geography played an important part in Glasgow’s success. Its location on the west coast meant it was ideally placed to tap into the developing transatlantic trade. It was also blessed with abundant resources of coal and iron ore on its doorstep which provided the fuel and raw materials for industrial development. The River Clyde may have initially been long, shallow and meandering, but an extensive programme of civil engineering works straightened and deepened it so that it quickly became a major artery of international trade, bringing ships into an extensive network of quays and docks in the centre of Glasgow. But geography alone could not breed prosperity. At the heart of the city’s success lay a spirit of creativity and inventiveness that drove an innovative approach to engineering, commerce and design. From the mid-eighteenth century, with figures like James Watt and Adam Smith, the university had forged strong links with industry. A chair of engineering was established in 1840 and in the 1850s Professor Macquorn Rankine strengthened these links by founding the Institution of Engineers in Scotland, which became the principal forum for the exchange of academic and practical engineering ideas.


Alongside shipbuilding and marine engine building there grew a bewildering array of other industries. Blast furnaces, forges and foundries provided the iron and steel plates, girders, rods, pipes and rivets that supplied the numerous engineering works. These included manufacturers of steam hammers, machine tools, bridges, railway locomotives, pumps, sugar processing machinery, sewing machines, cranes and refrigerators. Textile mills produced thread, fabric and carpets using cotton and calico, silk, wool, flax and jute. Extensive chemical works across the city produced oils, acids and alkalis for cleaning, dyeing and bleaching textiles and for a host of other industries such as potteries, paper and glass making, leather tanning and rubber manufacture. Flour mills, sugar refineries, breweries and distilleries were all an important part of the city’s industrial fabric. Smaller businesses made watches, musical instruments, gloves, hats, guns, furniture, fishing rods, umbrellas and artificial limbs. In fact, there was not much that was not made in Glasgow and the west of Scotland.7 Servicing all these industries were banks, accountants, lawyers, stationers, insurance companies, stockbrokers, warehouses, wholesale and retail merchants and a vast array of commercial agents and brokers.


Behind the splendour of this economic marvel lay a terrible scar on the city. The massive influx of workers to Glasgow, largely from Ireland and the Highlands, was more than the city’s housing stock could take. Unscrupulous landlords crammed so many people into cheap and unsavoury tenements that Glasgow’s living conditions became among the worst in Europe. The old medieval heart of the city and the east end became a place of filth, crime and misery. Waves of cholera and typhus eventually forced the city to act and in 1866 the City Improvement Trust was formed to begin the process of slum clearance. Massive improvements were made, but there was no getting away from the fact that Glasgow’s capitalist dream was built on the exploitation of cheap labour, and the condition of the working class remained a constant stain on the city’s reputation.


Glasgow had quickly developed into one of the major centres for the shipping trade. The arrival of the steamship brought many more investors into the industry seeking to cash in on their early success. George Burns established the City of Glasgow Steam Packet Company in 1830 and quickly came to dominate the shipping trade between the Clyde, Liverpool and Ireland. He later provided the finance and business know how to enable Samuel Cunard to establish his new transatlantic service, together with Robert Napier who provided the technical input to build the engines and ships for the first Cunard steamships. The close relationship with the Clyde shipbuilders saw a large number of Glasgow shipping companies established in the 1840s and 1850s. The City Line traded with China and the Far East, Patrick Henderson & Co. with New Zealand and Burma, the Anchor Line with New York and the Mediterranean, the Allan Line with Canada and the Donaldson Line with South America. The rapid increase in shipowning can be seen in the rise in the number of ships registered in the port of Glasgow. In 1811 there were just twenty-four with a total tonnage of 2,000 tons and by 1861 there were 679 ships with a tonnage of over 200,000 tons.8 There were also numerous agents who represented shipping companies from other ports as well as shipbrokers who chartered ships and matched them with cargoes for other merchants and agents.


Amidst all this innovation and prosperity, the Burrell shipping business began to thrive and in 1862 the increasingly prosperous Burrell family moved to 30 Willowbank Street, off Woodlands Road. This was part of the westward suburban expansion of the city that enabled those with money to escape the stench of the city centre. It was here that the first Burrell girl, Elizabeth, was born in 1864. Family lore would have you believe that William Burrell lived in hardship and grew up in almost slum-like conditions, but this is very far from the truth.9 Both the Scotia Street and the Willowbank Street flats were newly built, and the Burrell family were the first tenants. These were elegant blonde sandstone buildings in up-and-coming middle-class districts with typical Glasgow high ceilings and spacious interiors. Willowbank Street was directly opposite the highly fashionable Park district in Glasgow’s West End that was just nearing completion. The Burrells knew the property market well and so were able to pick out an appropriate home for an aspiring business family. Both Isabella and William Burrell Sr at this time owned several shop-fronted tenement buildings in Crown Street, one of the main shopping streets in the Gorbals. The rentals on these provided a considerable annual income that supplemented whatever was earned though the shipping business. It is clear that Isabella was active in the management of these properties and was very much a businesswoman in her own right.10


The move to Willowbank Street was only a temporary stop in the family’s move west, and around 1865 they moved again, this time to a house in Auchentorlie Terrace in Bowling. This was a row of four sandstone terraced houses, two storeys high with a basement below. It had a garden running down to the railway line and a view over the harbour at Bowling. Here the Forth and Clyde Canal joined the Clyde and William Burrell Sr would have been able to see his own vessels coming and going among the busy river traffic. Henry, the youngest brother, was born here in April 1866 and the family further expanded with the arrival of Jessie in 1868, Helen in 1869, Isabella in 1872 and Mary, the youngest child, in 1874. As well as building her family, Isabella also took the opportunity to build her property portfolio, acquiring two additional houses in Bowling, including Rosemary Villa, described as having a ‘good view and convenient to stations, containing 8 apartments, wash house &c. with garden’.11


The older boys were now growing up and the choice of school was an important one for a family on the rise. Glasgow had a number of excellent schools but, in common with many who had found new wealth in the flourishing city, the Burrell boys were sent to boarding school. Like his two older brothers, William was sent to Abbey Park School in St Andrews. The town at this time was regarded as ‘a glorious place for boys’ and was renowned for its boarding schools for young gentlemen. Although Abbey Park was not the highest regarded it had a very good reputation. Boys came from all over the country including London, Dublin, Edinburgh and Aberdeen. One observer noted: ‘There were all classes; I remember sons of a London organist, a Dublin physician, of army officers, dead or retired, of the greatest piano-makers in the country, and of big men in the iron and shipping industries.’12 The school’s popularity among Glasgow’s industrial elite can be seen by the fact that it promoted itself in the Glasgow and West of Scotland Educational Guide, the essential directory for those wishing to send their children to the ‘leading schools of the Western Metropolis’.13 Among Burrell’s fellow pupils were John and Beaumont Neilson, sons of Glasgow’s leading ironmaster William Neilson, William Lietke, son of J. O. Lietke of Bankier, Lietke & Co., shipowners and brokers, and George Shaw, son of William Shaw of Guthrie, Shaw & Co., calico printers.


The headmaster of Abbey Park, during most of Burrell’s time at the school, was Nathaniel Leask. He was said to be energetic and capable, and was no doubt much more popular with the boys than his predecessor who was described as ‘a great chastiser’. According to the school’s own publicity it was expressly designed by an eminent architect, making it ‘unsurpassed in Scotland’ as an educational establishment. Its accommodation was ‘ample and commodious’ with the classrooms and dormitories ‘airy, roomy and cheerful’. The food was apparently plain, although there was ‘an abundance of it’.14


Between fifty and eighty boys boarded at the school, which initially had five resident tutors and five separate masters who taught Classics, English, mathematics, arithmetic and modern languages. According to the testimonials of some of the leading academics who examined the pupils, the quality of teaching bore ‘favourable comparison with any other Institution of a similar kind’ and was ‘equal to what may be found in the highest schools in the country’.15 However, other reports suggest that the standard of teaching was not quite so good as a great reliance was placed on lessons by university students supplementing their income rather than by established teachers.16


William began his schooling at Abbey Park in 1870 at the age of nine. In his second year he was awarded first prizes in Geography, Arithmetic and Classics and a second prize in English.17 In 1874, at the age of twelve, he was awarded an English prize for ‘accuracy in repeating the shorter Catechism’. He was also awarded a special prize for his essay on the Book of Judges. William featured in the school’s art exhibition, where he was one of three boys singled out for their illuminated texts and ornamental specimens, earning praise for his ‘artistic elegance of finish’.18 The following year he repeated his success with the shorter Catechism and also received a second prize in Latin syntax.19


Sport played an important part in the boys’ education and character building at Abbey Park. Rugby and cricket were popular and one of the Burrell brothers is mentioned in the rugby team although it is not clear which one.20 William was awarded a prize for fencing with a single stick in 1874.21


It is tempting to draw parallels between William’s schooling in St Andrews with its ancient university, cathedral and castle and his later interests in Gothic art and architecture. A gazetteer of the time praised its ‘antiquarian and historical associations’ which gave the town ‘a grand aggregate of attractive character’.22 But in reality William boarded in a new building built in 1853 on the southern outskirts of the town. Yes, the school participated in civic life to a certain extent and William would have been exposed to the beauties of the town, but to infer from his later interests that he wandered dreamily through the streets and spires cultivating his passion for the Gothic is a romantic notion too far. At best we might conclude that it piqued his interest. In any case he did not remain at school for long.


Like George, William left at the age of thirteen. There is a family tale that his introduction to the business was rather unexpected. Just before he was to return to school after the summer holidays in 1875 his father brought him into the offices one day. As William Sr returned from attending to some business he found the young William assisting the ledger clerks with such a grasp of the work that he decided there was no point sending him back to school and so William started in the business on a clerk’s wage.23


The business he joined had been started by his grandfather George twenty years earlier. George Burrell was born in Alnwick in 1801. According to one account his father was a barge owner and he may have begun his career in shipping working alongside him. He did not stay in Alnwick long, however, and by the 1820s he had moved to Leith, where his uncle had been living. The family tradition is that he moved to Scotland to work on the construction of the Forth and Clyde Canal, but since this opened in 1790 this is implausible. The Union Canal, however, which linked the Forth and Clyde Canal to Leith was completed in 1822. If there is any truth in the family tradition it must have been the Union Canal that drew him north. There is no evidence of how he was earning his living, but he must have been doing alright because on 6 August 1824 he married Elizabeth Hastie there. They had one daughter, Barbara, born on 9 October 1825. Elizabeth disappears from the records at this time and it is presumed that she died in childbirth. Sometime after this George Burrell moved through to Glasgow, where he married Janet Houston in 1831. By 1841 they were living on Garscube Road, which was just a short walk to the Forth and Clyde Canal at Port Dundas. In the 1851 census and the 1855 valuation roll his occupation is listed as ‘clerk’ and there is evidence that he was involved in working on the canal.


By 1856 George Burrell had set up on his own, establishing a business as a shipping and forwarding agent, operating from the Grangemouth and Alloa Wharf at Port Dundas.24 He had also moved to a new house at 72 New City Road. When his son William Sr joined the business the following year it went under the name of Burrell & Son.25 In addition to the Port Dundas office they also established an office in Grangemouth, at the eastern end of the canal, that was run by George’s younger son Henry. After a short time Henry established his own canal shipping business but remained Burrell & Son’s agent in Grangemouth.26


As a new business Burrell & Son tried a variety of different schemes before finding its place in the market. In 1858 they began advertising weekly sailings between Glasgow and Aberdeen via the Forth and Clyde Canal on the steamer Thane. Despite an intense advertising campaign with large adverts in all the local papers between Glasgow and Aberdeen this service did not last more than a few months. Their junior partner in Aberdeen, Hugh Fraser, was made bankrupt by the venture, but the Burrells managed to survive.27


They retrenched and carried on in less grand style, operating barges or lighters on the canal, shipping the likes of grain, iron and hay. This was not an easy or glamorous business and required a certain robustness of character to deal with the numerous instances of verbal abuse, violence, drunkenness and pilfering that seemed to be the stock in trade of the lightermen. There is little evidence relating to the vessels themselves. Some were wooden, some were iron, some horse-drawn and others, known as screw lighters, were steam powered. They all seem to have been able to carry about 100 tons of cargo. The earlier vessels were given heroic names such as Vulcan, Hercules and Dauntless, but by the 1870s they seem to have just been numbered. There is no way of determining how many barges they operated, but the numbered barges went up to at least No. 15. A rare announcement of a launch of one of their lighters appeared in 1868, when a wooden lighter was launched from the Firhill yard of J. & R. Swan.28 The following year the launch of Burrell’s iron screw steamer Hercules from Swan’s Kelvindock yard at Maryhill was also reported.29 The vessels primarily shifted cargo back and forth along the Forth and Clyde Canal and also out to Greenock where cargoes were loaded onto larger seagoing ships. The steam-powered vessels could also go as far afield as Ayr and Campbeltown.


The only evidence we have of their operation comes from newspaper reports, which largely related to accidents or court cases. Several instances of theft were reported, most of which were fairly small-scale, such as two boys, aged eleven and fourteen, who were caught red-handed stealing rags from the Port Dundas depot. An altogether more elaborate scheme was unearthed in May 1863 when three of Burrell’s employees were accused of stealing five tons of pig iron from the lighter David at Greenock.30 The sheriff adjudged the scheme a deep-laid plot which was carried out ‘boldly and with great cunning’ and sentenced the ringleader and the lighter’s master to sixty days imprisonment.31


The lighter trade was dangerous for those working on the vessels and there are numerous reports of accidents. Some were relatively minor, such as Alexander Cross who broke his arm while shifting a cargo of pig iron aboard the lighter Success in Grangemouth harbour,32 but there were also many fatalities. Drink played a significant role in some of the incidents. Captain Felix McConnell of the lighter Hercules, which was in Ayr with a cargo of guano, decided to go for a ‘ramble up the town’. When his crew helped him back to the vessel he fell from the gangway, hitting his head on the gunwale before plunging into the water and drowning.33


The vessels themselves were also subject to a fair bit of knocking about. In July 1875 Burrell’s lighter No.15 was struck by the Dublin steamer Duke of Leinster off Port Glasgow and one of the crew was killed.34 Burrell sued the steamer owners for £160 damages, but the sheriff was of the opinion that it was the lighter’s fault for being in the steamer’s way and the case was dismissed. This case provides a useful insight into how the lighters operated on the Clyde. Without an engine they were normally propelled by two men with poles who punted the vessel along the shallow part of the river. When the winds allowed, the lightermen sometimes erected a temporary ‘sail’ by attaching a tarpaulin to a pole to catch the wind. In this particular case, the temporary sail had caused the lighter to drift in an unpredictable way. The steamer was unable to judge its course accurately and caught it with its paddlebox, sending the crewman to his death.35 Despite all these mishaps and tragedies, the canal trade remained the mainstay of Burrell & Son’s operations for many years.


A successful new direction for the firm came in 1862 when they ordered a ship that would expand their business beyond the canals and firths and out into the open sea. A ‘beautiful small schooner’ intended for foreign and coastal trade, was built at Swan’s yard at Maryhill and, unlike Burrell’s canal boats, the launch was turned into a real occasion:




Though the day was most unfavourable, there was a large attendance of ladies and gentlemen from Glasgow to witness the launch. The vessel was turned into her watery element in beautiful style, when Mrs Burrell, the lady of the proprietor, in a most graceful manner, broke the bottle, and christened her the ‘Janet Houston’ of Glasgow.36





By August the Janet Houston had delivered a cargo of grain to Lancaster and then operated up and down the coasts of Britain.37 In October 1863 it made its first overseas trip, taking a cargo of pig iron from Grangemouth to St Valery on the Normandy coast.38 Over the next few years it traded successfully between ports on the British mainland, Ireland and the Continent. The Janet Houston’s captain during this time was James Cleland, who seems to have been just the sort of rough and ready character you would imagine in charge of a coastal trader. Whilst taking a cargo of iron to Hove he went to the Half-way House Inn and tendered a French penny for his glass of ale. When the landlord refused his coin he became angry, threw the beer over him followed by the glass, striking him on the temple and inflicting a wound an inch and a half long. His defence was that he had had too much to drink, which did not hold much sway with the magistrate, who promptly fined him twenty shillings.39


Trade must have been good for the Janet Houston, as in November 1863 another schooner of similar construction, but a little larger, was launched from Swan’s yard.40 The Janet Houston was owned outright by the Burrells, with George and William Sr each owning thirty-two of the sixty-four shares. For the new vessel, the Jeannie Marshall, they went into partnership with James and John Hay, fellow shipping agents at Port Dundas, with each of the parties owning sixteen shares. This allowed Burrell & Son to raise sufficient capital to invest in a new ship, while still maintaining control of its operation. It carried out a similar pattern of trade to the Janet Houston, sailing to and from France and around the British coast.


With the seagoing venture proving successful, the Burrells again joined forces with James Hay, along with Captain David Miller and another investor to buy a much larger ship in 1864. The Suffolk, at 231 tons, was more than three times the size of the first two vessels and was a proper ocean trader. Over the next few years it settled into a regular pattern of sailing between Liverpool or Glasgow and the West Indies and Mexico, taking out general cargo and returning with timber and coffee.41 The Burrells owned a quarter of the sixty-four shares but were clearly the principal managers of the vessel, although much of the business seems to have been conducted through agents in Liverpool.


The next major development for Burrell & Son came in 1866 when they took delivery of their first seagoing steamship. They already had experience of steam power with their screw lighters, but this was a much bigger proposition. The Fitzwilliam was a 300-ton iron screw steamer, and at 160 feet was the largest vessel that J. & R. Swan could build on their slip at Kelvindock. It was not a particularly large ocean trader but it was considerably larger than the Suffolk and showed a brave new direction for the firm. William Burrell Sr was the driving force behind this move. Rather than partnering with his father he joined with Andrew Crichton Wotherspoon, a metal broker in Glasgow. Both initially owned thirty-two shares, but Henry Burrell in Grangemouth also bought into the vessel a few years later. It began a regular trading pattern, sailing from Glasgow with general cargo to Spain and Portugal, and returning with fruit and other goods.


In order to expand the business further William Burrell Sr set up in partnership with William McLaren in 1867 to form Burrell & McLaren. They took out premises at 51 St Vincent Street and advertised themselves as ‘shipbrokers and commission merchants’. They quickly set out to expand the fleet, ordering a new iron steamer from Blackwood & Gordon in Port Glasgow and acquiring the second-hand steamer Grange. By February 1868 they were advertising the Fitzwilliam and Grange on a regular service from Glasgow to Oporto.42 Another new steamer, Fitzjames, was launched in July 1868; unlike the other steamers the Fitzjames was designed to carry passengers as well as cargo. In September 1868 it was advertised as sailing for Civitavecchia, just north of Rome on the Italian coast, enticing prospective passengers with its ‘superior accommodation’.


Burrell & McLaren quickly ordered another ship from Blackwood & Gordon that was launched as the Fitzpatrick in October 1869. This ship was the largest yet built for Burrell at 885 tons. This ship was actually owned by Robert Donaldson, an iron merchant in Glasgow. A similar arrangement was made with several other ships, where Glasgow iron merchants and the shipbuilder Thomas Blackwood invested in ships that were then managed by Burrell & McLaren. The new fleet of steamships and the opening of the Suez Canal in 1869 offered up new routes and they were soon advertising sailings to Singapore and Bombay. To capitalise on this new market, they ordered the large new steamer Strathclyde from Blackwood & Gordon. At 1,950 tons this was more than twice the size of any of their previous ships and was fitted with accommodation for thirty passengers.


In 1872 William McLaren set up on his own, leaving William Burrell Sr to manage the fleet, once again under the name of Burrell & Son. When young William Burrell joined the business in the summer of 1875 it consisted of the canal and coasting trade managed by his grandfather George Burrell and operating from Port Dundas, and an oceangoing fleet of nine steamships managed by his father with offices at 141 Buchanan Street. By this time the total number of ships on the Glasgow registry had grown to a thousand, with a total tonnage well in excess of half a million. Glasgow itself had cemented its status as the workshop of the world and was earning its reputation as the Second City of the Empire. Its population now exceeded half a million and it had just overtaken Liverpool as the largest city in Britain after London. This rapid industrialisation was a marvel of which the city was immensely proud and was described at the time as ‘one of the most interesting industrial phenomena of the present or of any other age of the world’s history’.43


The impact of Glasgow’s engineering industry went far beyond the nuts and bolts of production and commerce. Alongside the factories, mills and shipyards, a vibrant cultural economy and art scene grew. Clyde shipbuilders prided themselves on the high quality of their products and this commitment to excellence played an important role in stimulating the industrial arts. Fitting out transatlantic liners was akin to recreating floating Renaissance palaces or baronial castles and everything that went into creating that artifice had to be designed and produced. As well as creating opportunities for artists and designers this stimulated the growth of companies specialising in stained glass, decorative plasterwork, architectural ironwork, furniture, carpets and textiles. As Glasgow physically expanded, the market for this type of material grew to meet the demand of the increasing numbers of tenements, townhouses and commercial premises in the city, as well as the country mansions of the industrial elite. A significant fine art market also developed with paintings being commissioned to decorate liners, company boardrooms and public buildings.


The importance of this cultural economy can be seen in the establishment of the government-sponsored School of Design in 1844. This was funded by the leading shipbuilders and manufacturers in the city as ‘an excellent means of improving the art of ornamental design, and advancing the manufacturing interests of the country’.44 Separately, Haldane’s Academy of the Fine Arts was founded to improve the study of design, painting and engraving to enhance the manufacturing and mercantile interests of Glasgow.45 These two institutions came together in 1874 as The Glasgow School of Art and Haldane Academy. From the start its primary purpose was to ‘give instruction in art as applied to manufactures at fees within the reach of the artisan classes’.46


At the same time Glasgow’s museum service was also starting to play a leading role in promoting creativity within the city and stimulating its cultural economy. Glasgow’s civic collection was established in 1856 when 510 paintings were acquired from the estate of the Glasgow coachbuilder Archibald McLellan.47 He was a prolific collector of Italian, Dutch and Flemish art, and his collection included gems such as Botticelli’s The Annunciation and Titian’s Christ and the Adulteress. Along with the collection the city also purchased the suite of galleries that McLellan had been in the process of building and opened them as the Corporation Galleries.


The practice of collecting art had long been a pastime of the city’s elite. The tobacco merchant John Glassford of Dougalston amassed a sizeable collection of old and new masters including works by Rubens, Canaletto and Watteau. The collection of shipbuilder Robert Napier ran to nearly 5,000 items including paintings by Tintoretto, Cranach and Rembrandt. His collection was so vast that his mansion included a purpose-built museum at its heart. These two collections were auctioned off, but as the city’s art collection gained increased recognition, it became fashionable for collectors to donate their collections to the city. For example, the marine insurance broker William Euing gave thirty-six paintings in 1856 and bequeathed a further 200 in 1874.48 Their motives for giving were a mix of status aggrandisement, civic pride and philanthropy, and most also believed in the improving power of art and its contribution to the economy as a whole. The large number of donations helped to build a collection that was ‘worthy to rank with the great galleries of the world’.49


In 1870 Glasgow also opened the City Industrial Museum in an old mansion house in Kelvingrove Park. This was partly a shop window for the city’s wares, with models and samples from Glasgow’s engineering businesses, and partly a natural history and ethnography museum. Its collections increased rapidly, and by 1876 a large extension was added to the original converted mansion house. It was at this time that the visionary museum director James Paton took over the service. He came with a drive and a passion to transform the museum and gallery into a powerful force for the city’s improvement, believing that investing in museums would ‘raise the whole mass of the population to a higher level, and broaden and deepen the fertilising stream of industrial activity’.50


As well as the civic drive to improve the city’s cultural landscape, the growing number of artists also began to organise themselves more formally to contribute to the city’s artistic scene. The Glasgow Institute of the Fine Arts was established in 1861 to put on an annual art exhibition that would rival Edinburgh’s stuffy Royal Scottish Academy. Its committee was made up of professional artists and prominent businessmen, reflecting both the makers and consumers of contemporary art. From the outset the annual exhibition was a means of showing local talent and a vibrant and eclectic mix of the latest art from Britain and Europe. As well as the artists’ submissions, collectors lent some of their best works and dealers exhibited exciting new works for sale. The annual exhibition became a hit with the public and was one of the highlights of Glasgow’s social scene. The Glasgow Art Club also established itself as the hub for artistic exchange in the city. It was founded in 1867 initially as a forum for amateur artists, but it quickly became a popular a meeting place for both professional and amateur artists, as well as lay members, such as businessmen, who wished to hang out with the bohemian crowd. Such was the rapid flourishing of artistic endeavour in the city, that by 1880 The Graphic newspaper was able to report that ‘the general interest shown to-day in Art in Glasgow is a hundred times greater than in any previous period of our history’.51


It was in this heady mix of commerce and culture that young William Burrell first dipped his toe in the art market. The story is often embellished, but at the British Antique Dealers’ Association annual banquet, he gave his own account:




Sir William Burrell told how, as a lad, some fifty-six years ago, he bought a Raeburn at a small auction for 18s. But realising that the portrait would cost at least 30s. to frame, he had it put up again, when it was knocked down to another buyer for 15s. So Sir William paid the auctioneer 3s. and left the room. As he remarked: Raeburn had hardly started to come into his own!52





After a brief interlude staying at Clydebank House on the banks of the Clyde at Yoker, the Burrell family moved in 1879 to Elmbank, a villa on the hill overlooking Bowling harbour. It was in his bedroom here that William Burrell’s art collecting first found its expression with work by the Glasgow-based animal painter George Brown, known familiarly as ‘Coo Broon’. The story goes that his father was less than impressed with his interest in art, suggesting that he would be better off investing in a cricket bat. His father had built a fierce reputation as an astute businessman and financier. Although daring in business, politically he was very much a conservative and was a member of the constituency committee of electors for Old Kilpatrick Parish that selected the Conservative parliamentary candidate.53 He was also a staunch religious believer and on one occasion was compelled to write to the Glasgow Herald about doctrinal intolerance in Bowling.54 Despite this he was reputedly lively and jovial and good with the children. It probably suits the family myth of William Burrell rising from hard beginnings to depict William Sr as a man with no artistic inclinations. In fact paintings had long been in the family. Like most successful businessmen with a villa to fill William Burrell Sr had his own fair share of decorative works, including a portrait of his grandmother left to him in his father’s will. The valuation of his household contents after his own death came in at a hefty £455, so among the silver, silver plate, pictures, engravings and books there must have been some items of real value.55 Burrell’s mother was certainly very interested in art and built up her own collection of tapestries, embroidery, prints and ceramics. Andrew Hannah, who became the first Keeper of the Burrell Collection in 1944, knew William Burrell well and in his obituary noted that:
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